RECEIVED

09-05-2017

STATE OF WISCONSIN

COURT OF APPEALS

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

DISTRICT IV

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

Case No. 2016AP1879-CR

JOSHUA J. LUTHER,

Defendant-Appellant.

APPEAL OF NONFINAL ORDER GRANTING MOTION *IN LIMINE* TO EXCLUDE EVIDENCE, THE HONORABLE
BRIAN PFITZINGER, PRESIDING

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

DAVID A. BOLLES Attorney at Law State Bar #1056907

BOLLES LAW OFFICE, LLC

PO Box 1878 Madison, WI 53701 (608) 403-3249

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

1. IS EVIDENCE OF MR. LUTHER'S NON-IMPAIRMENT RELEVANT TO THE DUE CARE DEFENSE CONTAINED IN SECTION 940.25(2)(a)?

The trial court concluded that it is not.

2. IS EVIDENCE OF MR. LUTHER'S NON-IMPAIRMENT RELEVANT FOR ANY OTHER PURPOSE?

The trial court concluded that it is not.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

The appellant does not request oral argument, but is fully willing to provide oral argument if the court deems it helpful in addressing the merits of the appellant's claims.

The appellant believes publication is warranted as this appeal raises unsettled questions of law that are important to the statewide administration of justice.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case involves the State of Wisconsin prosecuting Joshua Luther for a drugged-driving-injury case despite strong evidence that Mr. Luther was not impaired at the time of the accident (1, 22, 54: 12-13). In the early afternoon of May 1, 2015, Mr. Luther was involved in a collision while driving his work van southeast on Highway DE near the Highway 151 intersection (1: 1). The accident caused serious injuries to J.Z. (1). Deputies from the Dodge County Sheriff's Office arrived on scene, and Deputy Scott Ziorgen made contact with Mr. Luther, who was visibly distraught over what had just occurred (54: 13). Mr. Luther answered all of Deputy Ziorgen's questions appropriately, and did not show any signs of impairment (54: 12-13).

Due to the seriousness of the accident, Deputy Ziorgen sought a blood sample from Mr. Luther (54: 12). Mr. Luther responded that he had not been drinking but had smoked marijuana the night before (1: 3). Deputy Ziorgen then transported him to the hospital, where staff performed a blood draw (1: 3-4). The State Lab of Hygiene later tested Mr. Luther's blood and produced a report asserting that he had 1.4 ng/ml of delta-9-THC in his blood (a very low level on the spectrum) (22: 2-3). Based on the lab results, the State charged Mr. Luther with one felony count of causing great bodily harm by operating a vehicle with a detectible amount of delta-9-THC in his blood, contrary to section 940.25(1)(am) (1).

As the case progressed, the State filed a motion *in limine* to prohibit the defense from informing or arguing to the jury that Mr. Luther was not impaired at the time of the driving (11):

The State in this case has only charge [sic] Use of a Vehicle with a Restricted Controlled Substance in Blood Causing Great Bodily Harm. The issue of impairment is not before the court and is not relevant to this charge. The State requests that the court prohibit evidence and argument that relate to issues of impairment. The State further requests restriction [sic] prohibiting evidence related to opinions and research

about how certain levels of delta-9 THC have been found to correlate with levels of impairment.

(11).

The defense filed a responsive brief along with a notice of intent to offer at trial the opinion of Dr. Richard Kingston, Pharm.D, an expert on toxicology, that there is no credible evidence in this case showing that Mr. Luther was impaired at the time of the accident (22: 4). In fact, according to Dr. Kingston, the totality of the evidence—including the blood results, observations of witnesses at the scene, and witness testimony in court—supports the opinion that Mr. Luther was <u>not</u> impaired at the time of the accident (22: 4).

Wisconsin law provides an affirmative defense to this charge is the defendant can prove by a preponderance of the evidence that the accident would have occurred even if the defendant had been exercising due care and did not have a detectible amount of a restricted controlled substance in his or her blood (the "due care" defense). Wis. Stat. § 940.25(2)(a). The defense offered Dr. Kingston's testimony to show that Mr. Luther was exercising due care at the time the accident occurred and that the accident was not due to his impairment (21: 2). Mr. Luther's lack of impairment is relevant to whether the accident would have occurred regardless of the presence of THC because his reported THC level was so low that it could not have contributed to the accident (21: 2).

The court held a hearing on the issue at which it barred Dr. Kingston's testimony and any other evidence showing that Mr. Luther was not impaired (55). The court's ruling bars non-impairment evidence for any purpose. (32). The court acknowledged "language in a lot of cases that [...] truly confuses the issue and is fodder for argument" (55: 14). It then excluded all evidence of Mr. Luther's non-impairment as irrelevant to the due care defense (55: 11-13). It never

¹ Including, for instance, whether Mr. Luther's statements to police, or observations of the scene are reliable. If Mr. Luther were to testify at trial, the court's order would bar any meaningful inquiry into his mental state at the time of the accident. The jury would be left with the assumption that Mr. Luther was impaired at the time and could discount his testimony entirely without giving the defense an opportunity to demonstrate otherwise.

referred to the language of the statute, emphasizing instead language from a case which the Supreme Court of Wisconsin later clarified was an incomplete statement of the law (55: 10-13). *See State v. Lohmeier*, 205 Wis. 2d 183, 194-95, 556 N.W.2d 90 (1996). The court then issued a nonfinal order granting the State's motion to exclude Dr. Kingston's testimony, and any other evidence relating to Mr. Luther's lack of impairment (32).

The defense petitioned for leave to appeal the court's nonfinal order, which the State agreed was appropriate for interlocutory review. This Court stayed the trial court proceedings on October 5, 2016, and granted the defense petition on June 13, 2017. This appeal now follows.

ARGUMENT

I. THE CIRCUIT COURT'S EXCLUSION OF DR. KINGSTON'S OPINION VIOLATES MR. LUTHER'S CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHT TO PRESENT EXPERT TESTIMONY

A. Standard of Review

The admissibility of expert opinion testimony lies in the discretion of the circuit court. A circuit court erroneously exercises its discretion if it makes an error of law or neglects to base its decision upon facts in the record. Appellate courts decide any questions of law which may arise during its review of an exercise of discretion independently of the circuit court. *State v. St. George*, 2002 WI 50, ¶37, 252 Wis. 2d 499, 643 N.W.2d 777

B. The circuit court's exclusion of Dr. Kingston's testimony violates Mr. Luther's right to present a defense

At the initial motion *in limine* hearing on June 9, 2016, undersigned counsel objected to the exclusion of non-impairment evidence as a violation of Mr. Luther's constitutional right to present a defense. A defendant has a constitutional right to present a defense, including expert

testimony. *See id.*, ¶¶54-73. This right applies subject to a two-part test. *Id.*, ¶53-55. The defense must first show:

- 1. The testimony of the expert witness complies with Wis. Stat. § 907.02 governing the admission of expert testimony;
- 2. The expert witness's testimony was clearly relevant to a material issue in the case;
- 3. The expert's testimony was necessary to the defense case; and
- 4. The probative value of the defense expert testimony outweighed its prejudicial effect.

Id. If the defense satisfies these factors, the inquiry shifts to whether the State has a compelling interest in excluding the evidence that outweighs the defendant's right to present a defense. Id., ¶55.

As discussed in greater detail below, the trial court did not analyze the relevancy of Dr. Kingston's testimony in relation to the text of section 940.25(2)(a). It concluded the testimony was irrelevant based on a misreading of the case law. It did not analyze whether Dr. Kingston's proposed testimony satisfies the requirements of section 907.02, whether it was necessary to the defense, whether its probative value outweighs its prejudicial effect, or whether the State has a compelling interest to exclude the evidence that would outweigh Mr. Luther's right to present a defense. Dr. Kingston's proposed testimony satisfies all four factors set forth in *St. George* and there is no compelling state interest that outweighs his right to present expert testimony.

The proposed testimony complies with section 907.02. As indicated in his 40-page *curriculum vitae*, Dr. Kingston is a clinical professor in the Division of Professional Education at the University of Minnesota School of Pharmacy (23). He has extensive education and experience in forensic toxicology and possesses the knowledge, skills, and training to apply the facts of this case to principles and methods that can reliably determine the level of Mr. Luther's impairment—or in this case lack thereof—at the time of the incident. His proposed testimony would be helpful to explain to a jury of laypersons the science behind drug consumption and impairment. Clearly

he is qualified under section 907.02 to serve as an expert at trial.

Dr. Kingston's testimony is also relevant to a material issue in the case. A principle issue in this case is whether the accident would have occurred even if Mr. Luther had been exercising due care and did not have a detectible amount of a restricted controlled substance in his blood. The fact that Mr. Luther was not impaired goes to show that he was in fact exercising due care, and that the presence of THC in his blood, if any, did not contribute to the accident.

Moreover, Dr. Kington's testimony is central to Mr. Luther's defense. There is a good chance the trial would turn out to be a contest of experts. Leaving the defense to fend for itself without an expert at trial would create a perceived imbalance and would prejudice his right to present a complete defense.

Finally, the probative value of Dr. Kingston's testimony outweighs any prejudicial value it might have. The State's reply trial brief suggests that its primary concern with Dr. Kingston's testimony is that of jury nullification (26: 8). However, if that is the only concern it could be addressed by argument, a limiting instruction, or some other means less severe than excluding his testimony.² In any event, it is a concern that seems to discount the presumption that the jury will follow the law. *See State v. Johnston*, 184 Wis. 2d 794, 822, 518 N.W.2d 759 (1994) (reiterating that appellate courts must presume that juries follow a circuit court's instructions). The proposed testimony is highly probative of whether the accident would have happened anyway, while the State's concern regarding jury nullification is speculative and could be addressed by argument or objection at trial.

Applying the second part of the *St. George* test, the State simply does not have a compelling interest that outweighs Mr. Luther's right to present a defense. The State

² The State could be entitled to a limiting instruction. Wis. Stat. § 901.06 ("When evidence which is admissible . . . for one purpose but not admissible . . . for another purpose is admitted, the judge, upon request, shall restrict the evidence to its proper scope and instruct the jury accordingly.").

is concerned that the jury will not follow the law. That concern is likely present in many cases. A routine concern of local prosecutors over jury nullification cannot trump a constitutional right.

II. THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRONEOUSLY **EXERCISED** ITS DISCRETION BY**EXCLUDING EVIDENCE OF** MR. LUTHER'S NON-IMPAIRMENT BECAUSE IT DID NOT PROPERLY APPLY THE STATUTORY LANGUAGE AND THE CASE LAW TO THE FACTS OF THIS CASE

A. Standard of Review

will uphold trial Appellate courts a determination of relevancy unless it constitutes an erroneous exercise of discretion. State v. Pharr, 115 Wis. 2d 334, 345, 340 N.W.2d 498 (1983). "Discretion is not synonymous with decision-making. Rather, the term contemplates a process of reasoning. This process must depend on facts that are of record or that are reasonably derived by inference from the record and a conclusion based on a logical rationale founded upon proper legal standards. '[T]here should be evidence in the record that discretion was in fact exercised and the basis of that exercise of discretion should be set forth." McCleary v. State, 49 Wis. 2d 263, 277, 182 N.W.2d 512 (1971) (quoting State v. Hutnik, 39 Wis. 2d 754, 764, 159 N.W.2d 733 (1968)) (internal citation omitted). Decisions based on an error of law go beyond the limits of discretion. Hutnik, 39 Wis. 2d 754, 763.

B. The court did not analyze the language of section 940.25(2)(a) nor did it consider whether non-impairment evidence makes a fact of consequence to the action more or less probable, as required by section 904.01

The circuit court did not expressly analyze the text of the due care defense. Nor did it analyze whether Mr. Luther's lack of impairment tends to make it more likely that this accident "would have occurred even if the defendant had been exercising due care and did not have a detectible amount of a restricted controlled substance in his or her blood" as required under section 904.01 (55). **See also** Wis. Stat. § 940.25(2)(a). In neglecting to engage in this analysis, the court skipped over a critical step in determining the meaning of the statute.

This case presents a question of statutory interpretation: does "great bodily harm would have occurred even if the defendant had been exercising due care and did not have a detectible amount of a restricted controlled substance in his or her blood" as used in section 940.25(2)(a) mean what it says? Wisconsin law provides a defense to this crime if the great bodily harm would have occurred even if the defendant had been exercising due care and had not had a detectible amount of THC in his blood.

Mr. Luther's lack of impairment is relevant to whether the accident would have occurred regardless of presence of THC because his reported THC level was so negligible that it could not have contributed to the accident. Therefore, Mr. Luther has the right to demonstrate that the trace amount of THC allegedly in his system contributed nothing to the driving behavior and accident. The jury is entitled to infer that the accident would have occurred even without the THC, because it was present in an amount that is insufficient to affect anyone's ability to drive.

The analytical framework for statutory interpretation is well-established. The analysis begins with the statute's language, and if the meaning is plain, the inquiry typically ends there. State ex rel. Kalal v. Circuit Court for Dane Cnty., 2004 WI 58, ¶45, 271 Wis. 2d 633, 681 N.W.2d 110. "Statutory language is given its common, ordinary, and accepted meaning, except that technical or specially-defined words or phrases are given their technical or special definitional meaning." Id. (citations omitted). In determining a statute's plain meaning, the scope, context, structure, and purpose are important. See id., ¶¶45–46, 49. "A statute's purpose ... may be readily apparent from its plain language or its relationship to surrounding or closely-related statutes—that is, from its context or the structure of the statute as a coherent whole." Id., ¶49.

Section 940.25(2)(a) unambiguously states that "[t]he

defendant has a defense if he or she proves by a preponderance of the evidence that the great bodily harm would have occurred even if he or she had been exercising due care and he or she had not been under the influence of an intoxicant, did not have a detectable amount of a restricted controlled substance in his or her blood, or did not have an alcohol concentration described under sub. (1) (b), (bm), (d) or (e)." The affirmative defense asks whether the harm would have occurred regardless of the driver's impairment. The circuit court's decision essentially concluded that this language means something other than what it says without analyzing the text itself.

Moreover, the court engaged in no discussion over the standard of relevancy. Relevant evidence is that which has any tendency to make the existence of a fact of consequence to the determination of the action more probable or less probable than it would be without the evidence. Wis. Stat. § 904.01. Relevancy asks "whether the evidence sought to be introduced would shed any light on the subject of inquiry. Evidence is relevant when it indicates that a fact in controversy did or did not exist because the conclusion in question may be logically inferred from the evidence. Any fact which tends to prove a material issue is relevant." **Rogers v. State.** 93 Wis. 2d 682, 688, 287 N.W.2d 774 (1980) (internal citations omitted).

Non-impairment evidence is relevant to the due care defense because the fact that Mr. Luther was not impaired at the time of driving makes it more probable that the accident would have occurred regardless of the scant level of THC reportedly detected in his blood. The trial court simply passed over this analysis, concluding that the due care defense only applied where the defense can show that an "intervening cause" was responsible for the harm. It based this conclusion on a misreading of the case law and the nature of an affirmative defense.

C. The court did not correctly apply existing case law to the facts of this case

In deciding to bar Dr. Kingston's testimony as irrelevant to any factual scenario where the due care defense

might apply, the court cited language from the majority opinion and dissent found in State v. Caibaiosai, 122 Wis. 2d 587, 599, 363 N.W.2d 574 (1985), suggesting there must be some "intervening cause" of the accident. However, the Wisconsin Supreme Court in Lohmeier, 205 Wis. 2d 183, 194-95, later clarified that an intervening cause is merely one way to prove the defense. See id. at 194-94. In Lohmeier the principle dispute was over the relationship between the due care defense in section 940.09(2) (1993-94) and the contributory negligence rule in section 939.14 (1993-94).³ Id. at 194. In that case the Court found that despite the rule against acquittal based on the contributory negligence of a victim, a victim's negligent conduct could be used to establish whether the accident would have occurred even if the driver had not been under the influence and had exercised due care. Id. at 195.

The *Lohmeier* Court squarely addressed the due care defense in light of *Caibaiosai* in language that makes clear that the defense is available without the need to prove an "intervening cause":

In *State v. Caibaiosai*, this court stated that § 940.09(2) 'provide[s] a defense for the situation where there is an intervening cause between the intoxicated operation of the automobile and the death of an individual.' Although it is correct that § 940.09(2) provides an affirmative defense where there is an intervening cause, this defense can also be understood by focusing on the language of the statute itself, which makes no reference to an intervening cause. Under § 940.09(2), "[A] defendant has a defense if he or she proves by a preponderance of the evidence that the death would have occurred even if he or she had been exercising due care and he or she had not been under the influence of an intoxicant...."

Lohmeier, 205 Wis. 2d 183, 194-95 (emphasis added, internal citations omitted). This interpretation is certainly

³ Wis. Stat. § 939.14 (1993-94) provided that "[i]t is no defense to a prosecution for a crime that the victim was also guilty of a crime or was contributorily negligent." Copies of both statutes are included in the appendix.

consistent with *Caibaiosai*, which says that the due care defense asks whether the harm would have occurred regardless of the driver's impairment. *See Caibaiosai*, 122 Wis. 2d 587, 599, 363 N.W.2d 574 (1985). That is the consistent theme running through all of the cases.

For example, *Jacobs* clearly supports the admissibility of non-impairment evidence to support the due care defense. In that case, the circuit court permitted the defense to present evidence of lack of impairment and the issue appeared noncontroversial:

Jacobs' primary defense at trial [...] was that the death would have occurred even if Jacobs had been exercising due care and had not had alcohol or the cocaine metabolite in his bloodstream. In support of that defense, he highlighted the fact that Jacobs passed the majority of his field sobriety tests [...]."

Id., ¶15 (emphasis added). The question in that case was not whether evidence of non-impairment is admissible—it certainly was admitted at that trial. Id. The question was whether the defendant's trial counsel was ineffective for failing to object to improper character testimony unrelated to impairment and pursuing what turned out to be an unsuccessful defense strategy under the facts of that case. See id., ¶33.

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