RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN 11-29-2017

COURT OF APPEAL **CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS** OF WISCONSIN DISTRICT IV

Case No. 2016AP1879-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

JOSHUA J. LUTHER,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM A NONFINAL ORDER GRANTING A MOTION TO EXCLUDE EVIDENCE, ENTERED IN THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR DODGE COUNTY, THE HONORABLE BRIAN A. PFITZINGER, PRESIDING

BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

BRAD D. SCHIMEL Wisconsin Attorney General

MICHAEL C. SANDERS Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1030550

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

ARGUMENT

- I. The circuit court properly excluded evidence that Luther was not impaired by the restricted controlled substance that was in his blood when he crashed his van and caused great bodily harm.
 - A. Applicable legal principles.

1. Applicable principles relating to relevancy.

The circuit court granted the State's motion to exclude evidence that Luther was not impaired by THC, the restricted controlled substance in his blood, because it concluded that the evidence was not relevant to the charged crime or the affirmative defense. Wisconsin Stat. § 904.01 defines relevant evidence as: "evidence having any tendency to make the existence of any fact that is of consequence to the determination of the action more probable or less probable than it would be without the evidence." Relevant evidence is generally admissible at trial. Wis. Stat. § 904.02. However, "[a]lthough relevant, evidence may be excluded if its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice, confusion of the issues, or misleading the jury, or by considerations of undue delay, waste of time, or needless presentation of cumulative evidence." Wis. Stat. § 904.03.

2. Under the elements of the crime at issue, whether the driver was impaired by the restricted controlled substance is not relevant.

Luther was charged with causing great bodily harm by use of a vehicle with a restricted controlled substance in his blood. As Luther appears to agree, impairment is not an element of the crime. The State is required to prove three elements: (1) the defendant operated a vehicle; (2) the operation was a substantial factor in producing great bodily harm; and (3) the defendant had a detectable amount of a controlled substance in his blood when he operated the vehicle. Wis. Stat. § 940.25; Wis. JI-Criminal 1266 (2011). To prove the third element, the State does not need to prove that the restricted controlled substance had any effect. A chemical test showing a detectable amount of a controlled substance in a person's blood is "prima facie evidence on the issue of the person having a detectable amount of a restricted controlled substance in his or her blood without requiring any expert testimony as to its effect." Wis. Stat. § 885.235(1k).

3. Under the affirmative defense in Wis. Stat. § 940.05(2)(a), evidence that the driver was not impaired by the controlled substance in his system is also not relevant.

The Legislature has provided an affirmative defense to the crime of causing great bodily harm by operation of a vehicle with a restricted controlled substance in a person's blood. The statute states that "[t]he defendant has a defense if he or she proves by a preponderance of the evidence that the great bodily harm would have occurred even if he or she had been exercising due care and . . . he or she did not have a detectable amount of a restricted controlled substance in his or her blood." Wis. Stat. § 940.25(2)(a). This affirmative defense "constitutes an absolute defense to the criminal act." *State v. Gardner*, 2006 WI App 92, ¶ 23, 292 Wis. 2d 682, 715 N.W.2d 720.¹ Whether the defendant was impaired by the controlled substance is not relevant to this affirmative defense.

In State v. Caibaiosai, 122 Wis. 2d 587, 363 N.W.2d 574 (1985), the Wisconsin Supreme Court interpreted similar statutory language in Wis. Stat. § 940.09, causing death by operation of a vehicle while intoxicated. The affirmative defense at issue in *Caibaiosai* provided a defense if "it appears by a preponderance of the evidence that the death would have occurred even if the actor had not been under the influence of an intoxicant or a controlled substance or a combination thereof or did not have a [prohibited] blood alcohol concentration described under

¹ The same affirmative defense applies to Wis. Stat. § 940.09 "Homicide by intoxicated use of a vehicle," and Wis. Stat. § 346.63(2) "Operating under the influence of an intoxicant or other drug and causing injury."

sub. (1)(b)." *Caibaiosai*, 122 Wis. 2d at 596 n.3 (citing Wis. Stat. § 940.09(2) (1984–85)).

The supreme court explained the purpose of the statute, noting that "[i]t is negligence per se to operate a motor vehicle while under the influence of intoxicants." *Caibaiosai*, 122 Wis. 2d at 595. The court added that "[t]he people of this state through their legislature have determined in sec. 940.09(1)(a) that the operation of a motor vehicle by one who is under the influence of intoxicants is a risk that will not be tolerated." *Id*.

The supreme court explained the affirmative defense, stating that "[t]he legislature in sec. 940.09(2), Stats., has recognized there may be intervening factors between the fact of operating an automobile under the influence of intoxicants and the death of another and that the defendant should have that defense available to be proven by a preponderance of the evidence." *Id.* at 598. The supreme court did not define an "intervening cause," but this Court later defined an intervening cause as "a new and independent force which breaks the causal connection between the original act or omission and the injury, and itself becomes the direct and immediate cause of the injury." *State v. Turk*, 154 Wis. 2d 294, 296, 453 N.W.2d 163 (Ct. App. 1990).

In *Caibaiosai*, the defendant asserted that the affirmative defense was available if he could show that "the accident would have occurred without the intoxication." *Caibaiosai*, 122 Wis. 2d at 600. The supreme court explicitly rejected that assertion, stating, "This is not a correct application of the affirmative defense. If it were, the defendant could exonerate himself by claiming he was negligent and thereby avoid the consequences of having caused the death while operating a motor vehicle while intoxicated." *Id.* The court concluded that "[t]he defendant's negligence is not an element to be proven in

prosecuting this offense and is not an affirmative defense to its commission." *Id*.

In dissent, Justice Abrahamson concluded that the statute was unconstitutional. *Id.* at 610 (Abrahamson, J., dissenting). She noted that a person could be convicted of violating Wis. Stat. § 940.09(1)(a) if the person operated a motor vehicle while under the influence of an intoxicant if a child darted out and the person's vehicle hit and killed the child, if another car hit the person's vehicle, killing the person's passenger, or if the vehicle crashed after skidding on an oil slick, and the passenger was killed. *Id.* at 603–04. Justice Abrahamson concluded that in any of these scenarios, the intoxicated driver would be guilty of homicide, even though no driver, whether intoxicated or sober, could have prevented the death. *Id.*

After *Caibaiosai*, the Legislature amended Wis. Stat. \S 904.09(2) to better reflect the interpretation of the Caibaiosai court. The Legislative Reference Bureau's analysis of the resulting bill states that in *Caibaiosai*, the supreme court "held that this affirmative defense is available only when there is an intervening cause between the defendant's conduct of driving under the influence and the victim's death." See drafting file for 1989 Wis. Act 275. The analysis further states that "[u]nder this bill, the defendant has an affirmative defense to the charge or causing death or injury while under the influence of an intoxicant, drugs or both only if he or she proves by a preponderance of the evidence that the injury or death would have occurred even if he or she had not been under the influence of an intoxicant, drugs or both and that the injury would have occurred even if he or she had been exercising due care." See drafting file for 1989 Wis. Act 275.

The amended statute added language requiring that to prevail on the affirmative defense, a defendant must prove that he or she was exercising due care when he or she operated the vehicle.

Since the amendment, the affirmative defense is available if the defendant can prove "by a preponderance of the evidence that the death would have occurred even if he or she had been exercising due care and he or she had not been under the influence of an intoxicant or did not have a [prohibited] blood alcohol concentration." 1989 Wis. Act 275 § 5. The due care language—which requires a defendant to show an intervening cause—appears both in Wis. Stat. § 940.09(2)(a) and Wis. Stat. § 940.25(2)(a), the statute at issue here.

As the supreme court made clear in *Caibaiosai*, a defendant has no defense based on proving that he or she would have caused the death or injury by negligent driving even if he or she had not been under the influence of an intoxicant. Instead, the defendant must prove that he or she was not driving negligently and was exercising due care, and some condition rendered the crash and great bodily harm unavoidable. Or put another way, an intervening cause resulted in the death or injury.

Luther argues that, contrary to *Caibaiosia*, the supreme court has since clarified that an intervening cause is merely one way to prove the defense. He relies on *State v*. *Lohmeier*, 205 Wis. 2d 183, 194–95, 556 N.W.2d 90 (1996), in which the court addressed whether a defendant could have an affirmative defense by proving that the victims were contributorily negligent.

In *Lohmeier*, the defendant was driving while intoxicated when his vehicle struck and killed two women. *Lohmeier*, 205 Wis. 2d at 188. The defendant presented evidence that the women were walking on the roadway on the right side of the road. *Id*.

The supreme court concluded that evidence that the women were contributorily negligent could be the basis of the affirmative defense. The court noted that "[a]lthough it is correct that § 940.09(2) provides an affirmative defense where there is an intervening cause, this defense can also be understood by focusing on the language of the statute itself, which makes no reference to an intervening cause." Id. at 194. The court concluded, "Clearly, situations can arise where, because of the victim's conduct, an accident would have been unavoidable even if the defendant had been driving with due care and had not been under the influence." Id. at 195. In a footnote, the court noted that "[t]he 'dart-out' fact pattern is an illustrative example of when the defense could be established through the victim's conduct." Id. at 195 n.9. The court cautioned that "the affirmative defense would not be applicable simply because a victim did not take a precautionary measure, like wearing a seat belt. In such a case, it cannot be said that the accident would have been unavoidable, even if the defendant was sober and driving with due care." Id. (citing Turk, 154 Wis. 2d 294).

In Lohmeier, the supreme court viewed evidence of contributory negligence of the victims as somehow different than evidence of an intervening cause. But both require that the defendant prove that he or she was exercising due care, and that some condition occurred—other than the defendant's driving—that caused the injury or death or made the injury or death unavoidable. It makes no difference whether this is termed an intervening cause or something else. What is required is that some condition occurred that meant that the injury or death would have occurred even if the defendant was driving with due care, and regardless of whether the defendant was driving with or without a restricted controlled substance in his or her blood.

B. Luther fails to show that evidence of nonimpairment would establish the affirmative defense.

Luther wants to present expert testimony that he was not impaired by the THC in his system. He asserts that this non-impairment evidence is relevant and admissible. But he has not even asserted that some condition occurred other than his driving—some intervening cause—that resulted in the crash and the injury. Luther's argument is seemingly that he was driving so poorly that the THC in his system made no difference—he was going to hit the motorcycle and cause great bodily harm regardless of the THC. But that is precisely the type of argument that the supreme court rejected in Caibaiosai, 122 Wis. 2d at 600 ("The defendant's negligence is not an element to be proven in prosecuting this offense and is not an affirmative defense to its commission."). And the Legislature subsequently precluded that argument by amending the affirmative defense to require a defendant to prove that the injury would have occurred even if he she had been exercising due care.

The affirmative defense does not apply in his case because Luther was not exercising due care when he caused the great bodily harm. Luther was driving with THC in his system. He stopped his van at a stop sign. A motorcycle traveled down a highway and was passing the intersection at which Luther's van had stopped. The motorcyclist had the right of way. Luther pulled his van into the intersection, directly into the motorcycle that was passing by, causing the motorcyclist great bodily harm. Luther does not dispute that the motorcyclist had the right of way, or that he told a police officer that he didn't see the motorcycle when he pulled out. Luther cannot prove the affirmative defense to causing great bodily harm while operating with a restricted controlled substance, because he cannot prove that he was exercising due care by driving his van into a motorcycle that had the right of way.

The affirmative defense would apply if the situation were reversed. Imagine that Luther had THC in his system while he drove his van down the highway at a legal speed, and was passing through the intersection with the right of way, when a motorcyclist that had stopped at a stop sign pulled out and drove directly into the van, and the motorcyclist suffered great bodily harm. Luther would have an affirmative defense to a charge of causing great bodily harm while operating with a restricted controlled substance, because he was driving with due care, albeit with THC in his system, and he could not have avoided the crash.

Luther relies on *State v. Jacobs*, 2012 WI App 104, 344 Wis. 2d 142, 822 N.W.2d 885, stating that it "clearly supports the admissibility of non-impairment evidence to support the due care defense." (Luther's Br. 11.) It does not. In *Jacobs*, non-impairment evidence was admitted at trial. *Jacobs*, 344 Wis. 2d 142, ¶ 15. But whether the evidence was properly admitted was not at issue on appeal. *Id.* ¶ 1.

Luther also relies on *Gardner*, 292 Wis. 2d 682, \P 23, as holding that while the State does not have to prove that impairment caused the injury, the defense is entitled to argue that impairment did not cause the injury. (Luther's Br. 13.)

In *Gardner*, this Court explained that the affirmative defense "permits a defendant to show that the presence of the illegal drug was not the cause of the accident—that the injury would have occurred even if he or she had not used illegal drugs and driven." Gardner, 292 Wis. 2d 682, ¶ 23. other This did address the Court not statutory requirement—that a defendant must also show that the injury was unavoidable, even had he or she been exercising due care is his driving. But the statute plainly requires a

defendant to prove that some condition occurred—outside of the defendant's driving—such that the injury was unavoidable, and would have occurred regardless of whether the defendant had used drugs before driving.

Luther cites Turk, 154 Wis. 2d at 295, for the proposition that the inquiry in regards to due process is "[w]ould the injury still have happened anyway?" (Luther's Br. 13.) But in *Turk*, this Court explicitly viewed that inquiry as a question whether there was an intervening cause. This Court adopted the reasoning of the Supreme Court of West Virginia in State v. Nester, 336 S.E.2d 187, 189 (W. Va. 1985), that "[a]n intervening cause is a new and independent force which breaks the causal connection between the original act or omission and the injury, and itself becomes the direct and immediate cause of the injury." Turk, 154 Wis. 2d at 296. And in Lohmeier, the supreme court cited Turk for the proposition that to prove the affirmative defense, a defendant must prove that "the accident would have been unavoidable, even if the defendant was sober and driving with due care." Lohmeier, 205 Wis. 2d at 195 n.9 (citing Turk, 154 Wis. 2d 294).

Luther argues that his "lack of impairment is relevant to whether the accident would have occurred regardless of presence of THC because his reported THC level was so negligible that it could not have contributed to the accident." (Luther's Br. 8.)

But even if Luther were correct about the THC in his system not contributing to the crash and the great bodily harm, that evidence would not prove the affirmative defense.

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